
Introduction 
Welcome to the history of the Washington University School of Dental Medicine.  Established in 1866 by 
the Missouri State Dental Association, the Missouri Dental College was the first dental college west of 
the Mississippi River and the sixth such school in the nation.  The school was initially affiliated with the 
St. Louis Medical College and subsequently the Washington University School of Medicine. 
 
In its 125 years of existence, the dental school changed both its name and its location, yet always 
retained its commitment to the advancement of dental education and dentistry as a profession.  The 
Washington University School of Dental Medicine trained more than five thousand dentists, many of 
whom built influential careers and contributed to advances in clinical education, operative technique, 
and scientific research in dentistry. 
 

About this Project 
  

Entrance to the Washington University School of Dentistry, 1952  
This online exhibit highlighting the history of the Washington University School of Dental Medicine was 
initiated at the request of the school’s Alumni Association. 
 
Much of the content of this web site came from the records of the Washington University School of 
Dental Medicine, which are stored in the Archives of the Washington University School of Medicine.  
Images for this digital exhibit were selected from several of the visual collections held in the Bernard 
Becker Medical Library relating to the Washington University School of Dental Medicine. 
 
The list of alumni of the Washington University School of Dental Medicine was compiled using several 
sources, including the Executive Committee of the Faculty minutes, the General Alumni Catalogue of 
Washington University (1917), and alumni lists published in school catalogs and class yearbooks.  Every 
attempt has been made to create a comprehensive and accurate listing, and to resolve the conflicting 
information in different sources. 
 
Bibliographical sources used include: 
 
Missouri State Dental Association, History Committee. (1938). The History of Dentistry in Missouri.  
Fulton, Missouri: Ovid Bell Press, Inc. 
 
Shankland, Wilbur Morse. (1965). Missouri Dentistry: The Biography of a Profession.  Kansas City: 
History Committee, Missouri Dental Association.  
 
Thorpe, Burton Lee. (1909). Biographies of the Founders, Prominent Early Members and Ex‐presidents of 
the Missouri Dental Association.  St. Louis: Ev. E. Carreras.  
 
Assistance for this project was provided by Dennis Eliceiri, Emily Kelly, Miranda Rectenwald, and Cathy 
Sarli.  If you have comments about this web site, or would like to suggest changes, corrections or 
additions, please contact Archives and Rare Books. 
 



For more information about the Washington University Dental Alumni Association, please visit: 
 
Washington University Alumni Association Services: Dental School web site  
Washington University Dental Alumni Association web site 
 
 
 



 

The History: The Washington University School of Dental Medicine, 
1866­1991 
  
Dental education was in its infancy in the mid‐19th century.  The profession itself was as well – more of 
a trade than a profession, more a mechanical art than a science.  There were few formal schools; new 
dentists learned working under practicing dentists who were willing to share their few dental texts and 
pass on their practical knowledge.  The need for able dentists was great, especially in the rapidly 
expanding west.  Nowhere was this more obvious than in the state of Missouri.  Between 1860 and 1870 
Missouri grew from the 8th most populous state to the fifth most populous.  In 1860 St. Louis ranked 
eighth in population in the United States; by 1870 the city, with a population of nearly 311,000, was the 
fourth largest city in the country.  Practicing dentists were beginning to recognize the need for 
professionalizing their field by establishing local, state and national organizations and for formalizing 
dental education. 
 

Missouri Dental College diploma, 1888   
In 1864 dentist Henry E. Peebles began soliciting his fellow dentists in Missouri to join him in forming a 
state dental society.  On October 31, 1865 the Missouri State Dental Society was established.  At the 
Society’s first annual meeting a committee was formed to investigate the formation of a dental college 
under its auspices.  A recommendation to open a school in St. Louis followed, especially encouraged by 
the offer from the St. Louis Medical College to share its lecture rooms, museum and hospitals. 
 
In the fall of 1866 the newly formed Missouri Dental College was incorporated.  The Missouri Dental 
College was only the sixth dental school opened in the United States.  It was the first dental school 
established west of the Mississippi River and the first in the world to be affiliated with a medical college. 
 
The first course of lectures began on October 1, 1866 and closed on February 22, 1867, making it a 
course of five months duration.  The following year the course of study was expanded to two years of 
lectures.  There were eleven graduates in the first class – all were practicing dentists and some were 
among the founders of the college.  Of the members of the first faculty, six held the M.D. degree and 
two held the D.D.S. degree. 
 
In its 125 years of existence, 15 deans presided over the school: 
 
  1866‐1874 Homer Judd   
  1874‐1875 Charles W. Rivers  
  1875‐1878 William H. Eames  
  1878‐1899 Henry H. Mudd  
  1899‐1901 Albert H. Fuller  
  1901‐1922 John H. Kennerly   
  1922‐1932 Walter M. Bartlett  
  1932‐1933 Jesse D. White (acting dean)  
  1933‐1945 Benno E. Lischer  
  1945‐1953 Otto W. Brandhorst  
  1953‐1967 Leroy R. Boling   
  1967‐1976 John T. Bird  



  1976‐1987 George D. Selfridge  
  1987‐1989 David A. Bensinger  
  1989‐1991 Richard Jay Smith  
 
The School occupied six* different buildings: 
 
  1866‐1892 7th and Myrtle Streets (now Clark Street)   
  1892‐1902 1814 Lucas Place (now Locust Street)  
  1902‐1905 27th and Locust Streets  
  1905‐1909 Locust and Beaumont Streets (old Mary Institute Building)  
  1909‐1928 29th and Locust Streets  
  1928‐1991 4559 Scott Avenue  
 
 
In addition, in 1962 the Carlyn H. Wohl Research Center opened adjacent to the Scott Avenue Building, 
providing an additional twenty‐eight thousand square feet of space and new quarters for the dental 
school library.  In 1975, a four‐story six thousand square foot addition at the west end of the school’s 
main building was completed, providing additional laboratory, clinic and faculty office space.  In 1986 a 
five‐story addition was completed (extending a previously recessed section of the building to the main 
building line along Scott Avenue and building in an inner courtyard of the existing building). 
 
There were changes to the name of the school over the years as well: 
 
  1866‐1892 Missouri Dental College  
  1892‐1909 Dental Department of Washington University  
  1909‐1919 Washington University Dental School  
  1919‐1974 Washington University School of Dentistry  
  1974‐1991 Washington University School of Dental Medicine  
 
And changes to the degrees conferred: 
 
  1866‐1891 Doctor of Dental Surgery (D.D.S.) degree awarded  
  1892‐1900 Doctor of Dental Medicine (D.M.D.) degree awarded  
  1901‐1972 D.D.S. degree awarded  
  1973‐1991 D.M.D. degree awarded  
 
 
In 1880 the Missouri State Dental Association passed a resolution permitting the Missouri Dental College 
to elect its own trustees.  The following year the college was incorporated as its own entity, no longer 
under the auspices of the state association.  In 1891 the St. Louis Medical College became the Medical 
Department of Washington University.  The following year, under the deanship of Dr. Henry H. Mudd, 
the Missouri Dental College affiliated with the University as well, becoming the Dental Department of 
Washington University. 
 

Class of 1911 
Sophia Wachsmuth was the first woman to receive a dental degree from Washington University, having 
been admitted on an experimental basis in 1908.  She successfully completed her degree, graduating 
with the class of 1910.  Two women graduated the following year.  Female matriculants were scarce, 



however; less than twenty women had graduated from the Washington University School of Dentistry 
by 1942.  Although the admission of women started to climb noticeably in the 1970s, the percentage of 
female class members never exceeded one‐third of the total. 
 
In 1906 the Dental Department of Washington University began offering post‐graduate courses in 
clinical dentistry.  Beginning in 1939 post‐graduate degree courses of study in dentistry were offered 
through the Washington University School of Graduate Studies.  By the early 1950s the school offered 
post‐graduate master of science degrees in the fields of Dental Medicine, Dental Pediatrics, Oral 
Surgery, Orthodontics, and Prosthetics.  Other departments, such as Radiology, Operative Dentistry, 
Crown and Bridge, and Dental Materials offered courses of post‐graduate study by the early 1960s. 
 
 

Class in Operative Dentistry, 1911   
Admission requirements for the Washington University School of Dental Medicine evolved over the 
years.  In its first year the Missouri Dental College required that its candidates be of “good moral 
character” and have been in the reputable practice of dentistry since 1858.  In 1880 the College adopted 
the American Dental Association’s resolution requiring “a good English education as a preliminary 
qualification for its Matriculants, to be ascertained by examination.”  In 1886 the admission 
requirements stated that “candidates must have a good English education, as evidence of which a 
diploma from a reputable literary institution, teacher’s certificate, or other evidence of qualification will 
be accepted in lieu of an examination.”  A recommendation made by the National Association of Dental 
Examiners requiring a high school diploma or its equivalent for admission were adopted for the 1906‐07 
term. 
 
 

Washington University Dental Journal, 1922   
In 1921 the Washington University School of Dentistry instituted a requirement for one year of college 
as a prerequisite for admission.  Declining admissions by mid‐decade prompted the school to revert to 
the requirement of only a high school diploma – it was the only school in the country to do so – thus 
increasing the number of incoming freshmen in 1926 to sixty‐one.  However, a scathing Carnegie 
Foundation report issued in 1926 took the dental school to task for resorting to lowering admission 
standards in order to keep the school alive.  The one‐year preparatory college work requirement was 
reinstated for the 1927‐28 school year, and the number of incoming first‐year students fell to eight. 
 
In 1934 a program was established involving an optional two‐year pre‐dental college term leading to a 
B.S. degree in addition to the four‐year dental degree.  Beginning in 1939 the combined B.S./D.D.S. 
degree required three years of liberal arts instruction.  In 1937 the American Association of Dental 
Schools adopted a minimum entrance requirement to all Class “A” dental schools of the completion of 
two years of education in an acceptable College of Liberal Arts, emphasizing study of the basic sciences 
including the study of zoology and chemistry.  Washington University School of Dentistry complied with 
that entrance requirement. 
 

Library, ca. 1930   
Library, ca. 1961   

During the Second World War an accelerated curriculum was offered, based upon the recommendations 
of the Council on Dental Education of the American Dental Association.  The four academic years of 
study were compressed into three calendar years, requiring continuous terms including summers.  
Beginning in the 1950s the School of Dentistry catalog included a statement “urging” candidates to 



complete a baccalaureate degree before entering dental school, though two years of undergraduate 
study remained the entrance requirement.  In 1972 the admission requirement was increased to three 
years of education in an accredited college of liberal arts, though that requirement was dropped back to 
two years of liberal arts education in 1981. 
 
A nationwide survey of dental schools by the Carnegie Foundation in 1921 had called attention to the 
need of added facilities for the Washington University School of Dentistry.  The report suggested major 
changes: closer coordination with the medical school, hospitals and dispensary; erection of a new 
building with up‐to‐date equipment; and maintenance of an adequate endowment.  The school received 
a “B” rating, which prompted the University to reconsider its commitment to the dental school.  The 
Class “A” rating was returned in July of 1923 when the University promised to furnish a new facility.  
After a delay of four years, during which the University chancellor hoped private donations could be 
secured, the University committed money from its general fund and a new four‐story building was 
started.  In June 1928 the building at 4559 Scott Avenue was completed, at a cost of over $400,000. 
 

Views of the Washington University School of Dentistry's new building at 4559 Scott Avenue, ca. 1929   
 
The new building boasted three lecture rooms and an amphitheater for didactic instruction, three 
technical labs and three science labs.  There was not only a large general clinic but also a diagnostic 
clinic, a children’s clinic with special chairs, an orthodontic clinic, an oral surgery and extraction clinic, 
and a radiography clinic. 
 
  

Benno E. Lischer   
The school obtained its first full‐time dean, Benno E. Lischer, in 1933, and added full‐time teachers in 
the basic medical and dental sciences and clinical subjects.  A cooperative clinical research program 
involving the department of Dental Medicine, Oral Surgery, Prosthetics, and Pediatrics was developed.  
Teaching internships were established at Barnes and St. Louis Children’s Hospitals in the late 1930s.  
Undergraduate hospital dental experience was given to Washington University students in 1939 when 
Ruth Martin and Robert Harris, Jr. inaugurated a teaching and service clinic at the St. Louis Children’s 
Hospital. 
 
  
The Washington University School of Dental Medicine’s tradition of dental research extends back to the 
beginning of the school, when its founders and early faculty members were national leaders in 
advancing the field of dentistry.  Funding sources in the 20th century included the American Cancer 
Society, the National Institutes of Health, the National Science Foundation, and the United States Public 
Health Service.  One of the best‐known research projects was designed “to study radioactive nuclides in 
teeth and bone” (the “Baby Tooth Survey”).  Begun in 1958, the Baby Tooth Survey studied strontium‐90 
absorption of children by examining their deciduous teeth. 
 
In 1973 the Washington University School of Dentistry compressed the course of study by reverting from 
the then‐common four‐year (nine months of study per year) curriculum to a three‐year (eleven months 
of study per year) curriculum.  This allowed utilizing the facilities at full‐capacity for eleven months of 
the year and sped up the delivery of dentists to the nation’s health care system.  It also meant an 
increase in class size from an average of sixty‐three students to eighty‐four students, straining 
classroom, clinic and laboratory facilities.  A four‐story, six thousand square foot addition to the main 
school building, completed in 1975, provided the necessary additional space. 



 
  
In 1977 the dental school’s administration and faculty, led by Dean George D. Selfridge, decided to end 
the compressed three‐year curriculum and return to the more traditional and more common four‐year 
program.  Students already enrolled in the three‐year program were allowed to continue on that track, 
and were graduated in 1977, 1978, and 1979.  The first four‐year students were enrolled in 1977. 
 
The first discussions about closing the dental school came not in the 1970s but the 1870s.  On August 4, 
1875, at a meeting of the board of trustees, a discussion of the financial conditions of the school and its 
relation to the St. Louis Medical College brought forth a resolution from Dr. Charles W. Rivers to 
discontinue the school.  The motion was lost.  Dr. William Eames’ subsequent motion that the School 
continue and retain its affiliation with the St. Louis Medical College carried. 
 
  
Discussions about closing the dental school arose in the early 1950s and again surfaced after the closure 
of the St. Louis University School of Dentistry was announced in 1967.  At that time a devoted group of 
faculty and alumni vigorously defended the school, pledging increased assistance and financial support.  
An education, financial and remodeling proposal (put together by faculty members David Bensinger, Earl 
Shepard, Tom Moore, John Robert Ring, and Harold Rosenthal) was accepted by the University’s Board. 
 
The National Institutes of Health agreed to provide almost all of the funds necessary (nearly three 
million dollars) to renovate and re‐equip the dental school’s building.  The renovation (new heating, 
plumbing, lighting, air‐conditioning, and teaching, research, and patient‐care equipment) took place 
without interrupting the basic running of the school, and was completed in 1972.  A rededication 
program was held in March 1973 to mark the completion of the school’s five‐year renovation and 
rejuvenation plan. 
 

Washington University School of Dental Medicine, Class of 1991   
In June 1989 the Board of Trustees moved to close the Washington University School of Dental 
Medicine.  The decision was based upon budget deficits; increasing tuition rates; competition from less‐
expensive, state‐funded dental schools; limited outside funding; and a declining student pool. 
 
The school’s transition to closure was guided by the dean, Richard Jay Smith.  At the time of the closure 
announcement in 1989, there were full classes of incoming freshman and returning sophomores.  These 
students were successfully placed in other dental school programs.  All juniors and seniors were able to 
complete their degrees at Washington University by 1991. 
 
 
 
*  Published histories of the dental school differ as to the location of the first home of the Missouri 
Dental College. Several indicate a location from 1866‐1875 of Seventh and either Spruce or Myrtle 
Streets. The name of Myrtle Street was changed to Clark Street in 1884. (Spruce and Clark Streets run 
parallel to each other and are one block apart.) Some sources indicate that the school occupied the 
same location from its first classes in 1866 until the move to 1814 Locust Street in 1892. The minutes of 
the meetings of the Executive Committee of the Faculty do not mention the school moving in 1875; 
however, the clinic facilities used by the Missouri Dental College did move at that time. [Back]  
 
 



 
 
 
For more detailed histories of the Washington University School of Dental Medicine, see: 
 
“Some History of our Alma Mater” by John H. Kennerly, 1904  
“Historical Resume of the Washington University School of Dentistry” by R. G. Fobes, 1936  
“Women in Dentistry” by Elizabeth Neber King, 1945 



 

Biographies 
 
  
Edward H. Angle (1855‐1930) 
Edward H. Angle, the father of modern orthodontics, was born in Pennsylvania in 1855.  After a year‐
long apprenticeship with a family friend who was a dentist, Angle entered the Pennsylvania College of 
Dentistry, graduating in the spring of 1876.  During his training Angle developed an interest in 
orthodontia, finding it a field in which he could apply his interest in mechanical design and invention.  In 
1880 Angle invented his first dental appliance, a jack and traction screw. 
 
In 1885 Angle was appointed to the chair of orthodontia at the University of Minnesota.  In 1892 Angle 
gave up his general practice, becoming the first to specialize in the practice and teaching of orthodontia.  
He taught at several dental schools, including Northwestern University, the Marion‐Sims School of 
Dentistry, and the Dental Department of Washington University (1898‐1900). 
 
In St. Louis in 1900, Angle established the first post‐graduate school of orthodontics in the world, the 
Edward H. Angle School of Orthodontia.  Dr. Angle and the first graduates of his school organized the 
first orthodontic society, “The Society of Orthodontists,” which has evolved into the American 
Association of Orthodontists.  In 1908 Angle moved his school to New York, and in 1916 he moved it to 
California.  Angle died in Pasadena, California in 1930. 
 
Angle contributed to the design of many orthodontic appliances and operations.  He is best known for 
devising the first simple classification system for malocclusions, based on the first molar as the key to 
occlusion.  His classification system is still in use today for orthodontic diagnosis. 
  
 
 
Walter Manny Bartlett (1862‐1948) 
Walter M. Bartlett was born in New Orleans in 1862.  He entered the field of dentistry in 1878 as an 
apprentice to a New Orleans dentist, coming to St. Louis in 1884 as Technician in the office of Dr. H. H. 
Keith.  Bartlett entered the Missouri Dental College as both student and instructor in 1888, graduating 
with the D.D.S. in 1890.  He served as associate professor of Mechanical Dentistry at his alma mater until 
1895 when he resigned to devote his time to the enactment of laws exempting dentists from jury duty 
(passed in 1896) and creating a state Dental Board (passed in 1897).  The governor appointed Bartlett 
the first president of the Missouri State Board of Dental Examiners, where he investigated and expelled 
graduates of diploma mills from practicing dentistry in the state. 
 
In 1901 Bartlett resigned from the State Board of Dental Examiners and returned to his alma mater 
(then the Dental Department of Washington University) as professor of Prosthetic Dentistry and 
secretary of the faculty.  Bartlett became dean of the faculty in 1922 and was instrumental in the 
erection of a new dental school building and the purchase of new equipment, paving the way for the 
school to obtain a Class “A” rating. 
 
In 1932 was awarded an honorary Master of Science degree and made dean emeritus.  He retired from 
active practice as a dentist in 1940 due to failing eyesight.  Bartlett died in 1948. 



  
 
 
Orion Willis Bedell (1870‐1946) 
Orion Willis Bedell, the son of a dentist, started studying dentistry at the age of sixteen.  At nineteen he 
began his own private practice in his native Ohio.  He soon moved to Nebraska, where he became 
acquainted with Dr. Herbert C. Miller, an 1885 graduate of the Missouri Dental College.  Miller 
suggested Bedell move to St. Louis to enroll in the dental school to earn his dental diploma.  In 
September 1889 Bedell and his family (then still in Ohio) did just that.  Orion Bedell enrolled at the both 
the Missouri Dental College and the St. Louis Medical College, eager to earn both a dental and medical 
degree. 
 
Bedell graduated cum laude from the Dental Department of Washington University in 1892, whereupon 
he was appointed demonstrator in Operative Dentistry.  He graduated cum laude from the St. Louis 
Medical College in 1894.  In 1895 Bedell became full professor of Operative Dentistry and in 1898 he was 
elected chair of the Institute of Dental Sciences.  Bedell resigned from the faculty in 1902 in order to 
devote his full efforts to private practice.  He died in September 1946. 
  
 
 
  
David A. Bensinger (b. 1926) 
David A. Bensinger received his undergraduate degree from Washington University and earned his 
dental degree from St. Louis University School of Dentistry in 1948.  In 1977 Bensinger received a degree 
in health systems management from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration. 
 
Bensinger joined the faculty of the Washington University School of Dentistry in 1948 as an instructor of 
dental medicine; he became an associate professor in 1956 and a full professor in 1976.  He was named 
assistant dean in 1967 and associate dean in 1973.  The major renovation of the School of Dentistry 
building, completed in 1972, was completed under his supervision.  From July to September 1976, 
between the retirement of John T. Bird and the arrival of George D. Selfridge, Bensinger served as acting 
dean.  After the retirement of Dr. Selfridge in 1987, Bensinger was appointed dean, serving until his 
retirement in 1989. 
 
In 1968, the Washington University Alumni Association named Bensinger Alumnus of the Year, honoring 
him for his work to prevent closure of the school the previous year.  A specialist in periodontics, 
Bensinger served as president of the Midwestern Society of Periodontists; he also served as president of 
the Missouri Dental Association and was also a fellow of both the American College of Dentists and the 
International College of Dentists. 
  
 
 
  
John T. Bird, Jr. (b. 1919) 
John Bird was born in 1919 in Cairo, Illinois.  After receiving his D.D.S. degree from the Washington 
University School of Dentistry in December 1943, Bird served for almost three years as an Army dental 
officer, rising to the rank of Major and the post of Division Dental Surgeon for the European‐African 
Division of the Air Transport Command. 



 
Bird joined the faculty of the School of Dental Medicine in 1947 as instructor in Radiodontics and Dental 
Medicine.  He was promoted to assistant professor in 1948, associate professor in 1951, and professor 
in 1967.  In the 1950s Bird became active in the school’s administration, serving as director of Clinics and 
secretary of the faculty; he was named assistant dean in 1957.  Bird became associate dean in 1961 and 
was named dean of the school in 1967, following a two‐year leave of absence during which he obtained 
an M.A. degree in Higher Education from the University of Michigan.  Bird helped to conduct the dental 
school’s Baby Tooth Survey to determine the amount of strontium‐90 levels in teeth shed by children in 
the St. Louis area. 
 
Bird was a diplomate of the American Board of Endodontics and a fellow of the American College of 
Dentists and the International College of Dentists.  The Washington University Alumni Association 
awarded Dean Bird with a Distinguished Faculty Award in 1975.  Bird resigned from the faculty and as 
dean in July 1976. 
  
 
 
  
Greene Vardiman Black (1836‐1915) 
G. V. Black is credited with establishing dentistry as a scientific profession, raising it from a mechanical 
art to a professional status.  Born in central Illinois in 1836, Black was much more interested in 
mechanics and natural phenomena – trees, animals, and insects – than in formal schooling.  At 
seventeen Black began his study of medicine in the office of his brother, Thomas G. Black, who was 
practicing in Clayton, Illinois.  By 1857 Black had developed an interest in dentistry and began studying 
under Dr. J. C. Spears, who was practicing in the nearby town of Mt. Sterling.  After a year working under 
Dr. Spears, and reading his preceptor’s one book on dentistry three times, Black opened his own dental 
practice in Winchester, Illinois. 
 
In 1862 Black enlisted in the 129th Illinois Volunteers and served as an army scout.  A serious war injury, 
and six months of recovery in a Louisville hospital, led to Black’s discharge in 1863.  He opened a dental 
practice in Jacksonville, Illinois, and there began the research, experimentation and teaching that helped 
change the practice of dentistry.  Studies in chemistry and physics led to Black’s research on gold foil and 
the effects of certain gases on its cohesive properties.  Black studied histology and became a proficient 
microscopist.  In 1870 Black invented a cord‐driven dental engine – the first of this kind ever 
constructed.  He invented and patented a foot motor, and a tool for lettering marble and stone.  He was 
one of the first to use nitrous oxide gas as an anesthetic in dentistry. 
 
Black invented an electric thermostat, a micrometer for measuring amalgam expansion, a machine for 
grinding sections of teeth, and a microtome.  Other inventions include several dynamometers: the 
manudyamometer (for measuring finger pressure), the tupfodynamometer (for measuring the force of 
mallet blows), the phagodynamometer (for measuring the amount of force required to masticate 
various foods), and the gnathodynamometer (for measuring the strength of the bite). 
 
Black’s contributions to dentistry include systemizing the operative treatment of dental caries and 
formulating the principle of extension for prevention, devising a system of dental nomenclature, writing 
the first text book of human dental anatomy, discovering a method of maintaining the cohesive 
properties of gold foil and describing the physical and chemical principles of its contamination, and his 
studies of the physical properties of amalgam, dental calculus, dental pathology and dental bacteriology. 



 
G. V. Black joined the Missouri State Dental Society in 1866 and the Illinois State Dental Society in 1868.  
He served as president of the latter in 1870‐71.  From 1870 to 1880 Black lectured regularly in 
pathology, histology and operative dentistry at the Missouri Dental College in St. Louis, a 100‐mile 
journey from Jacksonville.  In 1878 the Missouri Dental College awarded Black the degree of Doctor of 
Dental Surgery.  Black was elected the first president of the Illinois State Board of Dental Examiners, 
serving from 1881 to 1887.  In 1884 the Chicago Medical College (Northwestern University Medical 
School) conferred upon him the degree of Doctor of Medicine. 
 
In 1883 Black was appointed to the Chair in Dental Pathology at the Chicago College of Dental Surgery, a 
position he held for six years.  In 1890‐91 Black served as professor of Dental Pathology and Bacteriology 
at the University of Iowa.  From 1891 to 1897 Black was professor of Dental Pathology and Bacteriology 
at Northwestern University Dental School.  In 1897 Dr. Black closed his Jacksonville practice and 
accepted the deanship of the Northwestern University Dental School.  He served there as dean until his 
death in 1915. 
  
 
 
  
Leroy Robb Boling (1905‐1984) 
Leroy R. Boling was born in Willapa, Washington in 1905.  He graduated from Linfield College in Oregon 
in 1928 with an A.B. degree; he earned a M.S. degree in zoology in 1930 and a Ph.D. degree in Anatomy 
in 1935, both from Washington University. 
 
Boling joined the faculty of the Washington University School of Dentistry in 1930; he was appointed 
assistant professor of Anatomy and Histology in 1936 and became professor of Anatomy in 1944.  He 
served at the dental school as secretary of the faculty (1939‐1953), registrar (1939‐1946), and assistant 
dean (1952‐1953).  Boling was named dean of the School of Dental Medicine in July 1953, retiring in 
1967 to return to teaching full‐time.  In 1976 Boling retired from teaching, though he continued to work 
with the dental school’s Admission office until 1984. 
 
Boling’s activities outside Washington University included serving as consultant to the Council on Dental 
Education and consultant to the Council on the National Board of Dental Examiners from 1950 to 1968.  
Dr. Boling was a member of the American Association of Anatomists, the International Association for 
Dental Research, a fellow in the American Association for the Advancement of Science, and was the first 
non‐dentist to be a fellow in the American College of Dentists. 
 
After his retirement as dean, Boling was active in the American Dental Association Vietnam Project, 
where he served as advisor to the Faculty of Dentistry and consultant in basic sciences to the University 
of Saigon from 1967 to 1971. 
  
 
 
  
Otto William Brandhorst (1889‐1974) 
Otto W. Brandhorst, a native of Nashville, Illinois, received his D.D.S. from the Washington University 
School of Dentistry in 1915.  After receiving his degree, Brandhorst joined the faculty as an instructor in 



orthodontics and in dental histology, progressing to the rank of professor in 1930.  Brandhorst was 
appointed dean of the school in 1945 and served in that capacity until 1953. 
 
During his long dental career, Brandhorst served as president of the St. Louis Society of Orthodontists, 
the St. Louis Dental Society, and the Missouri State Dental Association.  In 1952‐53 Brandhorst served as 
president of the American Dental Association.  He served as secretary of the American College of 
Dentists from 1935 to 1969 and as its president in 1970‐71.  Over the years Brandhorst was also an 
active member of the American Association of Dental Editors, the American Association of 
Orthodontists, and the American Association of Dental Schools. 
 
In 1955 the Medical College of Virginia honored Brandhorst with an honorary Doctor of Science degree.  
Temple University similarly honored Brandhorst in 1957.  Brandhorst authored The American College of 
Dentists: its history, organization, objectives, and how it functions, published in 1971.  Dr. Brandhorst 
died in 1974. 
  
 
 
  
William S. Brandhorst (1917‐2005) 
Born in St. Louis in 1917, William S. Brandhorst received his B.S. degree from Harvard University in 1939 
and his D.D.S. degree from the Washington University School of Dentistry in 1943.  After serving in the 
Army Dental Corps during World War II, Brandhorst went on to earn his M.S. in Orthodontics from the 
University of Michigan in 1948. 
 
Brandhorst returned to St. Louis to join his father, Otto W. Brandhorst, in the practice of orthodontics 
and to join the orthodontics faculty of the Washington University School of Dentistry, where his father 
was dean.  While maintaining a private practice, Brandhorst rose to the rank of clinical professor of 
Orthodontics. 
 
Dr. Brandhorst was an active member of the St. Louis Cleft Palate Team and served as vice president of 
the American Cleft Palate Association.  He served as president of the Greater St. Louis Dental Society, 
the Missouri Dental Association, and the Midwest Society of Orthodontists.  He was also a fellow of the 
American College of Dentists.  The Washington University School of Dental Medicine recognized 
Brandhorst as Distinguished Alumnus of the Year in 1986.  In 1989 Brandhorst was recognized by 
Washington University with its Distinguished Alumni Award.  The Midwest Society of Orthodontists 
honored Brandhorst with its Earl E. Shepard Distinguished Service Award in 1990. 
  
 
 
  
William Henry Eames (1828‐1894) 
William Henry Eames was born in Auburn, New York in 1828.  While studying medicine at the University 
of Michigan at Ann Arbor he became interested in dentistry after meeting a locally prominent dentist, 
Dr. Henry Porter.  Eames moved to Cincinnati to attend the Ohio College of Dental Surgery, where he 
graduated with honors as D.D.S. in 1853.  He then returned to Ann Arbor to practice dentistry in 
partnership with Dr. Porter, remaining there until 1857. 
 



Eames next moved to Lebanon, Tennessee to establish a dental practice.  By 1862 the turmoil of the Civil 
War made life unpleasant, so Eames moved north to the larger city of St. Louis where his opportunities 
might expand.  He quickly became established in St. Louis, becoming an organizer of both the Missouri 
State Dental Association (1865) and the Missouri Dental College (1866).  Eames taught at the Missouri 
Dental College for twenty‐eight years – he was elected the first professor of Artificial Dentistry and 
served as professor of the Institute of Dental Science.  He served as dean of the faculty from 1875 to 
1878.  In all his years of teaching, Eames reportedly never failed to fill his lecture hour. 
 
Eames served as president of the St. Louis Dental Society (1868), the Missouri State Dental Association 
(1869), the Mississippi Valley Dental Association (1873‐74), and the National Association of Dental 
Faculties (1892); and as a member of the American Dental Association, and the Illinois and Iowa State 
Dental Societies.  He died in St. Louis on March 29, 1894. 
  
 
 
  
Albert Homer Fuller (1841‐1912) 
Albert Homer Fuller, born in 1841 in Massachusetts, was a teacher when the Civil War broke out.  He 
enlisted and served with the One Hundred and Eighteenth Illinois Infantry until the end of the war, 
retiring as Second Lieutenant.  After the war, Fuller came to St. Louis and entered the office of his uncle, 
Dr. Homer Judd, as a student of medicine and dentistry.  Fuller graduated in 1871 from both the St. 
Louis Medical College and the Missouri Dental College with degrees in both medicine and dentistry. 
 
Upon his graduation Fuller was appointed demonstrator of Surgical and Operative Dentistry at the 
Missouri Dental College.  In 1874 he was elected professor of Mechanical Dentistry, and in 1879 
professor of Operative Dentistry.  From 1873 until 1899 Fuller served as secretary of the Faculty, and in 
November 1899 at the death of Dr. H. H. Mudd, Fuller was elected dean of the faculty.  In 1901 Fuller 
resigned as dean and from the faculty, and was made emeritus professor of Operative Dentistry. 
 
Fuller joined the Missouri State Dental Association in 1871 and served as its president in 1878.  He 
retired from the practice of medicine in 1909 and died in 1912. 
  
 
 
  
Thomas Lewis Gilmer (1849‐1931) 
Born in Lincoln County, Missouri in 1849, Thomas L. Gilmer received his D.D.S. degree in 1882 from the 
Missouri Dental College and his M.D. degree from the Quincy College of Medicine in 1885.  Gilmer’s 
study of dentistry and medicine was not surprising; he was a member of the fifth generation of his 
family to practice medicine in America.  Gilmer’s great‐great‐grandfather George Gilmer had begun his 
practice in Williamsburg, Virginia in 1731. 
 
Gilmer practiced medicine and dentistry in Quincy, Illinois from 1876 to 1889.  After receiving his 
medical degree, Gilmer served as Oral Surgeon at St. Mary’s Hospital in Quincy and taught microscopy 
and histology at the Quincy College of Medicine.  Gilmer moved to Chicago in 1889, serving as adjunct 
professor of Oral Surgery at the Chicago College of Dental Surgery (1889‐90).  In 1891 Gilmer was 
instrumental in the establishment of the Northwestern University Dental School, serving as its third 
dean and professor of Oral Surgery.  Gilmer was a founder of the Institute of Medicine of Chicago, 



serving on its board of governors and as its president.  Northwestern University awarded Gilmer an 
honorary Sc.D. degree in 1911. 
  
 
 
  
John E. Gilster (b. 1922) 
John E. Gilster, a 1944 graduate of the Washington University School of Dental Medicine, served on its 
faculty for almost forty years.  He joined the faculty in 1950 as instructor in Pediatric Dentistry.  He rose 
to become chairman of the Department of Pedodontics in 1957 and professor and chairman of the 
Department in 1959.  Though Gilster retired as department chairman in 1967, he remained professor of 
Clinical Pedodontics until his retirement in 1987. 
 
Gilster served as chairman of the American Board of Pedodontics in 1966 and as president of the 
American Association of Dental Editors in 1971.  In addition, he was a fellow of the American Academy 
of Pedodontics, the American College of Dentists, and the International College of Dentists.  Gilster 
served as editor of the Greater St. Louis Dental Society Bulletin (1953‐1963) and of the Journal of the 
Missouri Dental Association (1963‐1973).  Gilster was a founding member of the board of the directors 
of the National Foundation for Ectodermal Dysplasias. 
 
For his many accomplishments, Gilster was recognized by the Washington University Dental Alumni 
Association as a Distinguished Alumni in 1977; he received the Distinguished Alumni Award from 
Washington University in 1987. 
  
 
 
Robert J. Gorlin (b. 1923) 
Orofacial geneticist Robert J. Gorlin received his D.D.S. degree from the Washington University School of 
Dentistry in 1947.  Over the course of his career, Gorlin has discovered over one hundred syndromes 
and diseases of the head and neck, including the Gorlin Cyst (calcifying odontogenic cyst) and the Gorlin 
Syndrome (nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome).  Gorlin has authored over 600 scientific articles and 
almost 20 books, including four editions of the noted textbook, Syndromes of the Head and Neck. 
 
In 1956 Gorlin joined the faculty of the University of Minnesota School of Dentistry, where he became 
professor and chairman of the Division of Oral Pathology in 1958, and regents professor in 1979.  Gorlin 
is currently regents professor emeritus of Oral Pathology.  He has served as president of the 
International Association for Dental Research, the American Academy of Oral Pathology, and the 
International Society of Craniofacial Biology. 
 
In 2003 Gorlin received the American Dental Association’s highest honor, the Gold Medal Award for 
Excellence in Dental Research.  The following year Gorlin received the American Society of Human 
Genetics (ASHG) Award for Excellence in Human Genetics Education.  Dr. Gorlin holds honorary 
doctorates from the University of Maryland, the University of Minnesota, the University of Athens 
(Greece), Aristotle University (Greece), and the University of Copenhagen (Denmark). 
  
 
 
Touro M. Graber (b. 1917) 



T. M. Graber, a 1940 graduate of the Washington University School of Dentistry, received his M.S.D. in 
1946 and his Ph.D. in 1950 from the Northwestern University School of Dentistry.  From 1946 to 1958 
Graber taught orthodontics at Northwestern.  He co‐founded the school’s Cleft Lip and Palate Institute 
in 1947 and served as its director of research from 1947 to 1958.  In 1964 Graber founded the 
Kenilworth Dental Research Foundation.  From 1969 to 1982 he served as professor and head of the 
Orthodontic Section at the Pritzker School of Medicine, University of Chicago. 
 
From 1985 to 2000 Graber served as editor‐in‐chief of the American Journal of Orthodontics, which 
under his term was renamed the American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics.  A 
prolific author, Graber has written 20 books and over 160 scientific articles.  He is a recipient of the 
Albert H. Ketcham Award of the American Association of Orthodontists and the Jarabak International 
Teacher’s Award. 
 
Graber is still active, serving as clinical professor of Orthodontics at the University of Illinois, editor‐in‐
chief of the World Journal of Orthodontics, and director of the Kenilworth Dental Research Foundation. 
  
 
 
  
Samuel E. Guyer (b. 1922) 
Samuel E. Guyer joined faculty of the Washington University School of Dentistry as an instructor of Fixed 
Prosthodontics after his graduation in 1952.  He rose to become chairman and professor of the 
Department in 1960.  He served as Clinic Director from 1960 to 1969 and secretary of the faculty from 
1978 to 1983.  In 1977 Guyer became chairman of the Department of Restorative Dentistry, which 
incorporated the former departments of Dental Anatomy, Dental Materials, Fixed and Removable 
Prosthodontics and Occlusion.  In 1985 he was named professor of Restorative Dentistry and in 1987 
professor emeritus of Restorative Dentistry. 
 
In 1961 Guyer became a fellow in the American College of Dentists and in 1963 a diplomate of the 
American Board of Prosthodontics.  Dr. Guyer served as president of the American Board of 
Prosthodontics in 1971, the Federation of Prosthodontic Organizations in 1976, and the American 
Academy of Crown and Bridge Prosthodontics (now the American Academy of Fixed Prosthodontics) in 
1978.  Between 1964 and 1989 Guyer served in various consultant roles to the U. S. Army, the U. S. Air 
Force, the Veterans Administration, and the ADA Council on Dental Education. 
 
In 1993 the Washington University School of Dental Medicine Alumni awarded Guyer its Distinguished 
Alumni Award.  In 1996 Guyer was honored by the American Academy of Fixed Prosthodontics with its 
George H. Moulton Achievement Award in recognition of his five decades of service as an educator, 
author, administrator, researcher and clinician in fixed prosthodontics. 
  
 
 
  
Homer Judd (1820‐1890) 
Homer Judd was born in Berkshire County, Massachusetts in 1820.  He received his medical degree from 
the Berkshire Medical College in Pittsfield, Massachusetts in 1847, and then moved to Baltimore to take 
a private course in dentistry with Dr. Cyrencurs O. Cone.  Judd moved then to Ravenna, Ohio, where he 
practiced medicine and dentistry.  In 1849 Judd went west with a wagon train destined for California; en 



route he was appointed train surgeon.  When the train reached Santa Fe, New Mexico, Judd decided to 
locate there, thus becoming the first professionally trained dentist to practice in that territory.  After 
one summer Judd returned to Ohio, and in the fall of 1850 he moved to Warsaw, Illinois and practiced 
medicine and dentistry in partnership with Dr. Charles Coolidge, a physician. 
 
In 1861 Judd moved to St. Louis where he practiced dentistry until the outbreak of the Civil War.  He first 
served as a contract surgeon in the hospital service.  After the Battle of Shiloh Judd was appointed 
surgeon of the Thirty‐fourth Missouri Infantry, where he was one of four surgeons charged with the care 
of five hundred wounded soldiers on board of a hospital steamer.  Judd subsequently was appointed 
surgeon of the Fortieth Regiment of the Missouri Volunteers. 
 
At the end of the war Judd returned to dental practice in St. Louis, where he was associated with Dr. 
John S. Clark.  Judd’s research interest was the study of histology.  In addition Judd was interested in 
microscopy and was active in the formation of the St. Louis Microscopical Club. 
 
Judd became a leader in dentistry in St. Louis and the state of Missouri, helping to found the Missouri 
Dental Association (1865), the Missouri Dental College (1866), and the Missouri Dental Journal (1869).  
He served for seven years as the first dean of the Missouri Dental College and served for five years as 
the first editor‐in‐chief of the Missouri Dental Journal. 
 
Judd served as president of the American Dental Association (1868‐68), the Missouri State Dental 
Association (1867‐68), and the St. Louis Dental Society (1869); as a member of the American Medical 
Association, the St. Louis Medical Society, the St. Louis Academy of Sciences, and the St. Louis 
Microscopical Society; and as honorary member of the California, Iowa, Sixth District Society of New 
York, and the Illinois State Dental Associations. 
 
In 1880 Dr. Judd’s health failed.  He retired from practice and moved first to Colorado, then Mason City, 
Iowa, and finally to Upper Alton, Illinois.  Judd died on May 20, 1890 of cancer of the stomach and was 
buried in Pittsfield, Illinois. 
  
 
 
  
Henry Howard Keith (1847‐1899) 
Henry H. Keith was born in Salem, Massachusetts in 1847.  After a short time in a machine shop to learn 
the use of tools, Keith was apprenticed to his uncle, a jeweler in New York.  In 1864 Keith moved to 
Philadelphia and entered the laboratory of Dr. Charles J. Essig.  Four years later Essig moved his 
laboratory to Baltimore, taking Keith with him.  
 
Keith moved to St. Louis in 1871 and opened his own laboratory, working with many prominent dentists 
of the time.  He attended the Missouri Dental College and was graduated in 1873.  Keith joined the 
faculty of his alma mater, serving as demonstrator of Mechanical Dentistry (1875‐76) and professor of 
Mechanical Dentistry (1876‐79).  Best known for his plate work, Keith also had a large practice in 
operative dentistry.  Additionally Keith was highly regarded by his students and colleagues for his 
generosity in sharing his knowledge and expertise.  Until his death in 1899 Keith was active in both the 
Missouri State Dental Association and the St. Louis Dental Society. 
  
 



 
John Hanger Kennerly (1856‐1926) 
John H. Kennerly, born in Virginia in 1856, began his study of dentistry with Dr. J. H. Yost in Shelbina, 
Missouri.  He took a course of lectures at the Missouri Dental College in St. Louis, receiving the degree of 
D.D.S. in 1888. 
 
From 1894 to 1899 Kennerly was professor of Prosthetic Dentistry at the Marion‐Sims Dental College.  
He then joined the Dental Department of Washington University as professor of mechanical Dentistry 
and secretary of the faulty.  Upon the resignation of Dr. A. H. Fuller in 1901, Kennerly was elected his 
successor as dean and professor of Clinical Dentistry.  He served as dean until 1922. 
 
Kennerly was active in the Missouri State Dental Association, serving as corresponding secretary (1902), 
first vice‐president (1903), and president (1905).  He served as president of the St. Louis Dental Society 
(1897), the National Association of Dental Faculties (1906), and the Institute of Dental Pedagogics 
(1908).  Kennerly died in St. Petersburg, Florida in 1926. 
  
 
 
  
Elias S. Khalifah (1904‐1963) 
Elias S. Khalifah was born in 1904 in Beirut, Lebanon and received his D.D.S. from the American 
University in Beirut in 1926.  Dr. Khalifah came to the United States in 1936 to study at the 
Northwestern University Dental School, where he received his M.S.D. in 1937.  In 1941 he joined the 
faculty of the Washington University School of Dentistry as associate professor of Dental History, which 
he taught for over twenty years.  Khalifah served as editor of the Washington University Dental Journal 
from 1945 to 1954 and as editor of the Journal of the Missouri State Dental Association from 1956 until 
his death from cancer in 1963. 
  
 
 
Max Kornfeld (1903‐1993) 
Max Kornfeld, born in St. Louis in 1903, was at twenty years of age the youngest member of the 
Washington University School of Dentistry class of 1924.  He was given a special license by the Missouri 
Dental Board to practice dentistry until he reached the legal age. 
 
From 1925 to 1934 Kornfeld was a member of the faculty of his alma mater, teaching metallurgy and 
comparative dental anatomy.  From 1936 to 1946 he was professor of dental prosthetics and head of 
the department of fixed partial dentures at the St. Louis University School of Dentistry.  Kornfeld was 
author of two editions of the dental textbook Mouth Rehabilitation. 
 
Kornfeld was a fellow of both the American College of Dentists and the International College of Dentists.  
He served as president of the St. Louis Dental Society in 1951 and of the Missouri Dental Association in 
1957.  Kornfeld was honored by the Urban League of St. Louis in 1957 for his leadership while president 
of the St. Louis Dental Society in integrating its membership.  The Washington University School of 
Dental Medicine Alumni Association recognized Kornfeld as its 1989 Distinguished Alumnus. 
  
 
 



  
Benno Edward Lischer (1876‐1959) 
Benno E. Lischer was born in Mascoutah, Illinois in 1876, the son of the first mayor of that town.  He 
received the degree of D.M.D. from the Dental Department of Washington University in 1900, and 
immediately joined the faculty of the school as instructor in Operative Technique and Dental Anatomy.  
Lischer served as professor of Orthodontics from 1901 until 1924, when he resigned to concentrate on 
his private dental practice and to serve as non‐resident lecturer in Orthodontics at the University of 
Michigan. 
 
In 1929 Lischer and his family moved to San Francisco when he accepted a position as professor of 
Orthodontics at the University of California.  They returned to St. Louis in 1933 when the Washington 
University School of Dentistry offered Lischer the deanship of the school.  Lischer served as dean and 
professor of Orthodontia until his retirement in 1945. 
 
Lischer authored two texts on orthodontia: Elements of Orthodontia (1909) and Principles and Methods 
of Orthodontics (1912).  He served as president of the St. Louis Dental Society (1908), the American 
Society of Orthodontists (1913), the St. Louis Society of Orthodontists (1928‐29), the American 
Association of Dental Editors (1941), and the American Association of Dental Schools (1942).  
Internationally known as an orthodontist, educator and writer, Dr. Lischer was the recipient of the 
highest award of the American Association of Orthodontists, the Albert H. Ketcham Memorial Award, in 
1951. 
  
 
 
  
Henry James Byron McKellops (1825‐1901) 
Henry James Byron McKellops was born near Syracuse, New York on August 31, 1825, and moved with 
his family to St. Louis in 1840.  After studying at the University of Missouri at Columbia from 1842 to 44, 
McKellops returned to St. Louis for a course in bookkeeping at the Jones Commercial College.  Jonathan 
Jones, the proprietor of the school, helped him to get a job in the office of the City Register.  There 
McKellops made a number of friends, many of whom later became his patients.  Among those friends 
was Dr. Charles A. Pope, the dean of the St. Louis Medical College, who influenced McKellops to study 
medicine.  Though he attended lectures at the St. Louis Medical College over the next eight years, he 
never received a medical degree.  Instead McKellops was persuaded by his brother‐in‐law to study 
dentistry. 
 
McKellops’ natural ingenuity and love for mechanical arts fit well with the practice of dentistry.  He soon 
became an expert operator with gold as a filling material for teeth.  When “adhesive gold” was 
introduced McKellops quickly became an expert in its use.  In 1855 the Ohio College of Dentistry 
conferred the degree of D.D.S. on him in recognition of his skill and services to the dental profession.  To 
remain current with advances in the field of dentistry, McKellops had a standing order with his dental 
dealer to send him every new dental invention that appeared on the market.  He was a subscriber to 
every available dental periodical and to new dental books.  At the time of his death, McKellops owned 
what was believed to be the most extensive private dental library in the world. 
 
McKellops was an ardent supporter of organized dentistry.  He helped organize both the Western Dental 
Association and the St. Louis Dental Society in 1856 and served as the president of the latter in 1879.  He 
was the first president of the Missouri State Dental Association, which he helped found in October 1865.  



He was active in the Mississippi Valley Association of Dental Surgeons, and an honorary member of the 
Kansas, Iowa, and Illinois State Dental Societies.  In 1878 McKellops served as president of the American 
Dental Association and in 1884 as the president of the Southern Dental Association. 
 
McKellops went to Europe in 1863 where he lectured before various dental societies (introducing the 
use of the mallet in dentistry in both London and Paris) and practiced dentistry in Paris.  After the end of 
the Civil war, McKellops returned to St. Louis where he practiced dentistry until his death in April 1901. 
 
Upon McKellops’s death, brewery millionaire Adolphus Busch bought the McKellops dental library 
collection and donated it to Washington University. It was moved to the School of Dentistry in 1912, 
where it formed the core of the school’s fledgling library.  Upon the close of the Washington University 
School of Dental Medicine in 1991, the library was transferred to the Washington University School of 
Medicine’s Bernard Becker Medical Library. 
  
 
 
  
Ruth E. Martin (1896‐1976) 
Ruth E. Martin, a 1923 graduate of the Washington University School of Dentistry, was a pioneer in the 
field of dentistry for children.  She joined the faculty of the University in 1927 as an instructor, and rose 
through the ranks in teaching to professor and then head of the Pedodontic Department.  In addition Dr. 
Martin was on the faculty of the Washington University School of Medicine, dentist in the Department 
of Pediatrics at St. Louis Children’s Hospital, and on the consulting staffs of Barnes, Homer G. Phillips and 
City Hospitals.  Martin retired as professor emeritus of Pedodontics from the School of Dentistry and as 
assistant professor emeritus (Dentistry) from the School of Medicine in 1959. 
 
Among her many honors, Dr. Martin was a charter member of the American Board of Pedodontics and 
of the American Academy of Pedodontics; one of the first women to be admitted to the American 
College of Dentists; president of the American Association of Women Dentists; and national treasurer of 
the American Society of Dentistry for Children.  In 1954 Martin was elected chairman of the St. Louis 
section of the American College of Dentists – at the time, Martin was the only woman member of the 
local section. 
  
 
 
  
Henry Hodgen Mudd (1844‐1899) 
Henry Hodgen Mudd was born in Pittsfield, Illinois in 1844.  In 1856 his family moved to St. Louis, where 
Mudd attended public schools and then Washington University.  Mudd matriculated to the St. Louis 
Medical College and studied under his uncle Dr. John T. Hodgen; he received his medical degree in 1866.  
After an internship at St. Louis City Hospital and two years of service as acting assistant surgeon in the 
Thirteenth United States Infantry, Hodgen began a medical practice with his uncle in 1869. 
 
Mudd’s interests lay in anatomy and surgery and he soon began the demonstration and teaching of 
both.  Mudd joined the faculty of the St. Louis Medical College in 1872.  He became demonstrator of 
Anatomy there in 1874; the following year he was appointed to the same position at the affiliated 
Missouri Dental College.  In 1880 Mudd was given the rank of professor at both schools, serving over the 
years as professor of Anatomy, Clinical Surgery, and Surgical Anatomy.  The faculty of the Missouri 



Dental College selected Mudd as their dean in 1878, a position he held until his death in 1899.  Mudd 
simultaneously was dean of the St. Louis Medical College from 1896 until his death. 
 
Mudd’s ties to Washington University and the subsequent election of the University’s chancellor, 
William Greenleaf Eliot, to the Missouri Dental College board of trustees helped lead to the affiliation of 
the dental school with the University in 1892.  Mudd, though not a dentist, was recognized by his 
colleagues after his death as “a man of marked executive ability, possessed of great firmness and 
uprightness of character who commanded the respect and esteem of the entire Dental Profession.” 
  
 
 
W. Neal Newton (b. 1927) 
W. Neal Newton was born in Iowa in 1927 and is a 1951 graduate of the Washington University School 
of Dentistry.  After his graduation Newton joined the faculty in the Department of Dental Pediatrics, 
where he served for almost twenty years.  Newton served as an Army dental officer during the Korean 
War. 
 
Dr. Newton is a fellow of the American College of Dentists, the International College of Dentists and the 
American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry.  He served six‐year terms on the St. Louis County Community 
Health and Medical Care Advisory Board and the St. Louis County Health Commission.  He also served a 
six‐year term on the Advisory Board on Indian Health of the federal Department of Health, Education 
and Welfare. 
 
Newton served as president for several dental organizations, including the Missouri Dental Association 
and the U.S.A. section of the International College of Dentists.  In 1983 Newton was honored as 
Distinguished Alumnus by the Washington University School of Dental Medicine Alumni Association. 
  
 
 
  
L. Woodrow O’Brien (1913‐1992) 
A native of St. Louis born in 1913, Lane Woodrow (“Woody”) O’Brien received his D.D.S. degree from the 
Washington University School of Dentistry in 1935.  After his graduation, O’Brien served an internship 
with the U. S. Public Health Service and in 1938 joined the faculty of his alma mater.  During World War 
II he served with the 21st General Hospital in Europe and was awarded the Bronze Star. 
 
Dr. O’Brien returned to St. Louis after the war and resumed his dental practice and teaching at the 
Washington University School of Dentistry, where he served as professor of maxillofacial prosthodontics 
and cleft palate dentistry.  He became a nationally recognized clinician and researcher in the treatment 
of facial birth defects and oral cancer rehabilitation.  He established the Lasky Cleft Palate and Oral 
Cancer Rehabilitation Center at the dental school in 1966, serving as its director until his retirement in 
1978.  Dr. O’Brien went on to direct the Cleft Palate Group at St. Luke’s Hospital. 
  
 
 
  
Henry E. Peebles (1812‐1871) 



Henry E. Peebles, born in Virginia in 1812, began his practice of medicine in Rushville, Ohio, after 
studying with a local doctor.  An itinerant dentist interested him in dentistry, so Peebles began the study 
and practice of dentistry as well.  In 1842 Peebles moved his family to Lexington, Missouri, where he 
practiced for fourteen years.  He then moved to St. Louis and quickly became a leading dentist in the 
city.  Peebles was a charter member of the St. Louis Dental Society, founded in December 1856, and its 
president in 1859‐60. 
 
Peebles is credited as being the founder of the Missouri State Dental Association in 1865, having started 
corresponding with dentists throughout the state the previous year lobbying for the creation of a state 
organization and inviting their participation.  Peebles served as the second president of the statewide 
group.  He was also influential in the organization of the Missouri Dental College in 1866, serving as its 
first professor of Surgical and Operative Dentistry, and in the establishment of the Missouri Dental 
Journal in 1869. 
 
In 1850 both the Baltimore College of Dental Surgery and the Ohio College of Dental Surgery conferred 
upon Peebles the honorary degree of D.D.S.  Peebles was an active member of the Mississippi Valley 
Society of Dental Surgeons, the Western Dental Society, and the Southern Dental Association.  He died 
in February 1871 of erysipelas and typhoid fever. 
  
 
 
  
Charles William Rivers (1828‐1877) 
Charles William Rivers graduated with the first class of the Missouri Dental College in 1867, though he 
had begun studying and practicing dentistry earlier in both St. Louis and Pittsfield, Illinois.  Rivers joined 
the Missouri State Dental Association in 1866 and the Illinois State Dental Society in 1868. 
 
He was a member of the first Board of Trustees of the Missouri Dental College, serving from 1866 until 
1875.  He also served as the dean of the faculty and professor of Operative Dentistry during the school’s 
1874‐75 session.  In 1874 Rivers was elected president of the Missouri State Dental Association and the 
St. Louis Dental Society.  Rivers died of tuberculosis in 1877 in Atlanta, Georgia. 
  
 
 
  
Harold L. Rosenthal (1922‐2002) 
Harold Rosenthal, born in New Jersey in 1922, earned his bachelor’s degree in biology and chemistry 
from the University of New Mexico in 1943 and his Ph.D. in biochemistry and physiology from Rutgers 
University in 1951.  He taught at Tulane University, the Oak Ridge Institute for Nuclear Studies, and the 
Rochester General Hospital prior to moving to St. Louis in 1958 to serve as chairman of the Department 
of Physiological Chemistry at Washington University and its School of Dentistry. 
 
Rosenthal is best known for his role in the analysis of baby teeth collected during the St. Louis Baby 
Tooth Survey (1958‐1970).  That research showed that strontium‐90 levels in baby teeth rose and fell 
over the years in correlation with atomic bomb testing. 
 
Rosenthal retired as professor emeritus of Biomedical Science in 1987.  He was a fellow of the American 
Association for the Advancement of Science and a member of the Society of American Biochemists, the 



American Chemical Society, the American Institute of Biological Science, the Society for Experimental 
Biology and Medicine, and the American Institute of Nutrition. 
  
 
 
  
George D. Selfridge (b. 1924) 
George T. Selfridge received his D.D.S. degree from the University of Buffalo School of Dentistry in 1947; 
he also holds a master’s degree in higher education from George Washington University.  He joined the 
Navy the following year, taking his dental internship at the national Naval Medical Center, Bethesda, and 
the U.S. Naval Hospital, St. Albans, N. Y.  He served a residency in oral surgery at the U.S. Naval Hospital, 
Jacksonville, Florida. 
 
From 1969 to 1972 Selfridge was chairman of the Educational Resources Department and assistant 
director of Graduate Programs at the Naval Graduate Dental School, Bethesda, Maryland.  He then 
served a year as deputy director of the naval Dental Clinic in Norfolk, Virginia.  From 1973 until 1976 
Selfridge served as commanding officer at the Naval Graduate Dental School, a position comparable to 
dean of graduate studies at a university. 
 
In 1976 Selfridge retired from the Navy as a Rear Admiral to accept the deanship of the Washington 
University School of Dental Medicine, a position he held for ten years.  While at Washington University, 
Selfridge also acted as chief of Dentistry at Barnes and St. Louis Children’s Hospitals.  After leaving 
Washington University, Selfridge served as executive director of the American Board of Orthodontics 
from 1987 to 1997, retiring as executive director emeritus.  In 2006 Selfridge was honored by that 
organization with its Earl E. and Wilma S. Shepard Award of Distinction. 
  
 
 
  
Earl E. Shepard (1908‐1991) 
Earl E. Shepard was born in Marine, Illinois in 1908.  After his 1931 graduation from the Washington 
University School of Dentistry he opened a general dentistry practice in Edwardsville, Illinois, joined the 
faculty of his alma mater and the staffs of Barnes and St. Luke’s Hospitals.  In 1938 Shepard began 
specializing in orthodontics and moved his practice to the St. Louis area. 
 
Shepard was professor and chair of the Department of Orthodontics from 1953 to 1975, after which he 
served as professor emeritus and lecturer.  In 1964 he received both the School’s and the University’s 
Distinguished Faculty Awards.  The American Association of Orthodontics honored Shepard with its 
Albert H. Ketcham Award in 1979 and its Distinguished Service Award in 1983.  In 1982 Shepard was 
honored by the Missouri Dental Association for fifty years or more of service to the field of dental 
health. 
 
Active in both local and national professional organizations, Shepard was a diplomate of the American 
Board of Orthodontics and a fellow of the American and International Colleges of Dentists.  From 1977 
to 1987 Shepard served as executive director of the American Board of Orthodontics.  He served as 
secretary, treasurer and president of the Midwestern Society of Orthodontists, and since 1987 the group 
has bestowed the Earl E. Shepard Distinguished Service Award to one of its member who exemplifies the 



ideals of the orthodontic profession, community and family.  Shepard retired from his private practice in 
the mid‐1980s; he died on May 18, 1991. 
  
 
 
Clarence O. Simpson (1879‐1962) 
Simpson graduated from the Chicago College of Dental Surgery and from Barnes Medical College (St. 
Louis).  He was in the general practice of dentistry from 1902 to 1918, at which time he limited his 
practice to radiodontics and oral diagnosis.  At Barnes Dental College he was professor of dental 
anatomy, histology and operative dentistry from 1903 to 1910.  From 1926 to 1936 and from 1945 to 
1951 Simpson was professor and chairman of Radiodontics at the Washington University School of 
Dentistry.  He served as professor emeritus from 1951 until his death in 1962. 
 
Simpson served as president of the St. Louis Society of Dental Science in 1910, the St. Louis Dental 
Society in 1918, and the Missouri State Dental Association in 1923.  He authored several dental texts, 
including Advanced Radiodontic Interpretation (1923), The Technic of Oral Radiography (1926), and 
Principles and Practice of Radiodontics (1936). 
  
 
 
  
Richard Jay Smith (b. 1948) 
Richard Jay Smith earned his bachelor’s degree in psychology from Brooklyn College in 1969 and his M.S. 
in Anatomy and his D.M.D. from Tufts University in 1973.  Smith received a master of philosophy in 1978 
and a doctorate in 1980, both in Anthropology from Yale University.  He joined the faculty of the 
Washington University School of Dental Medicine in 1984 as professor and chairman of the Department 
of Orthodontics, having previously taught at University of Connecticut School of Dental Medicine, the 
University of Maryland Dental School, and the Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine. 
 
Smith was appointed dean of the School of Dental Medicine in 1989, serving as its last dean and 
overseeing the school’s closure in 1991.  Smith was then appointed professor of anthropology at 
Washington University, becoming chair of that department in 1993.  In 2001 Smith was named the Ralph 
E. Morrow Distinguished University Professor in Arts and Sciences. 
  
 
 
  
Harriett L. Steuernagel (1907‐1997) 
A native of Jackson, Mississippi, Harriett Steuernagel received a bachelor’s degree in English from 
Washington University in 1932.  She received her library science degree from the University of Illinois, 
Urbana‐Champaign in 1937.  In her early years, Steuernagel pursued a career in ballet and danced at the 
St. Louis Municipal Opera; she was also one of the original Rockettes, which were based in St. Louis 
before moving to New York. 
 
Steuernagel joined the staff of the Washington University School of Dentistry in 1946, heading the 
library until her retirement in 1981.  In 1988 the dental school’s library was renamed the Harriett L. 
Steuernagel Library.  Throughout her career Steuernagel held many committee appointments and 
offices in the Special Libraries Association, the Medical Library Association, and the American 



Association of Dental Schools.  She headed the AADS committee on Standards for Dental School 
Libraries from 1967 to 1969.  After her retirement, she served as a consultant in Dental Education and 
coordinated the steering committee of the dental school’s accreditation report.  Steuernagel developed 
and directed the dental school’s career counseling program from 1983 to 1986 as a full‐time volunteer.  
From 1986 until her death, she volunteered in the Technical Services and Archives and Rare Books 
sections of the Bernard Becker Medical Library. 
  
 
 
Cornelia M. Thompson (1899‐1980) 
Cornelia M. Thompson was born in 1899 into a family of dentists.  Her father Peter Holmes Morrison 
graduated from the Missouri Dental College in 1890; her grandfather, William Newton Morrison is 
credited with the introduction of the gold crown in 1869.  Cornelia Thompson was the sole woman to 
graduate in the Washington University School of Dentistry’s class of 1922. 
 
She holds the distinction of being the first woman graduate of the Washington University School of 
Dentistry to complete the four‐year curriculum; the first woman pedodontist in the St. Louis area, the 
first pedodontist in the St. Louis area to fill primary teeth, and only the third woman to be accepted as a 
fellow of the American College of Dentists. 
 
Thompson directed the Dental Health Division of the St. Louis County Department of Health from 1963 
until her retirement in 1971.  During her career, Thompson served as president of the American 
Association of Women Dentists, the Missouri Unit of the American Society of Dentistry for Children, and 
the West District Greater St. Louis Dental Society. 
  
 
 
Russell C. Wheeler (1897‐1976) 
Russell C. Wheeler, a 1919 graduate of the Washington University School of Dentistry, practiced 
dentistry in St. Louis for over fifty years and was a noted pioneer in the field of restorative dentistry.  He 
was a member of the faculty of his alma mater from 1922 to 1937 and again from 1945 to 1951, rising to 
the rank of associate professor of Oral Anatomy.  From 1937 to 1944 Wheeler served as associate 
professor and chairman of the department of Dental Anatomy at the St. Louis University School of 
Dentistry. 
 
Wheeler served as president of the St. Louis Society of Dental Science in 1937 and as president of the St. 
Louis Dental Society in 1946.  Most notably, Wheeler authored two dental textbooks, Atlas of Tooth 
Form (1939) and Dental Anatomy and Physiology (1940), which were at the time they were published 
required or recommended texts in almost every dental school in the United States and Canada.  The 8th 
edition of the latter text, now known as Wheeler’s Dental Anatomy, Physiology and Occlusion, was 
published in 2003. 
  
 
 
  
Jesse Duncan White (1873‐1941) 
Jesse Duncan White was born in Raymond, Illinois in 1873.  His education in dentistry began at the 
Indiana Dental College in 1892.  After a year at that school he transferred to the Missouri Dental College 



in St. Louis, where he completed one year.  White then spent six years in private practice in Illiopolis, 
Illinois, returning to St. Louis in 1900 to finish his formal dental education at the Missouri Dental College, 
which by then had become the Dental Department of Washington University.  He graduated in 1901 
receiving the degree of D.M.D.  In 1904, after a few years of private practice, White returned to his alma 
mater where he served for thirty‐two years as an instructor, professor and acting‐dean (1932‐33). 
 
White served as president of the St. Louis Dental Society in 1912 and as president of the Missouri State 
Dental Association in 1916.  In 1908 White became active in the Prosthetic Section of the American 
Dental Association, giving frequent lectures and clinics.  He was a charter member of Omicron Kappa 
Upsilon Fraternity and of the American College of Dentists.  White retired from the University in 1936; 
he died in 1941. 



 

Faculty & Alumni 
Over 5,000 men and women graduated from the Washington University School of Dental Medicine over 
its 125 years.  
 
 
 
Deans of the Washington University School of Dentistry 
1866 – 1874 Homer Judd, M.D., D.D.S.    
1874 – 1875 Charles W. Rivers, D.D.S.    
1875 – 1878 William Henry Eames, D.D.S.    
1878 – 1899 Henry H. Mudd, M.D.     
1899 – 1901 Albert H. Fuller, D.D.S., M.D.    
1901 – 1922 John H. Kennerly, D.D.S.    
1922 – 1932 Walter Manny Bartlett, D.D.S., M.S.    
1932 – 1933 Jesse Duncan White, D.D.S. – Acting Dean    
1933 – 1945 Benno E. Lischer, D.M.D.    
1945 – 1953 Otto W. Brandhorst, D.D.S.    
1953 – 1967 Leroy Boling, M.S., Ph.D.    
1967 – 1976 John T. Bird, Jr., D.D.S.    
1976 – 1987 George D. Selfridge,  D.D.S., M.S.    
1987 – 1989 David A. Bensinger, D.D.S.    
1989 – 1991 Richard J. Smith, D.M.D., Ph.D.  
 
 
  
 
 
Members of the Founding Association of Missouri Dental College – 1866 
Henry Barron William A. Jones    
Isaac Comstock Homer Judd    
W. A. Cornelius Charles Knower    
George W. Crawford Andrew MacBeth Leslie    
Alex Dienst Henry James Byron McKellops    
William Henry Eames William Newton Morrison    
Isaiah Forbes Edgar Park    
Edward Hale, Jr. Henry E. Peebles    
John P. Hibler M. Westerman  
 
 
  
 
 
Presidents of the Washington University Dental Alumni Association 
1910 Harry F. D’Oench 1961 Victor Thompson    
1911 Harry F. D’Oench 1962 Cornelia M. Thompson    



1912 Ormund H. Manhard 1963 James M. Jolly    
1913 Sylvester Cook Nifong 1964 Edward H. Hunter    
1914 O. H. Nelville 1965 J. Rogers Wellman    
1915 W. A. Roddy 1966 L. Woodrow O’Brien    
1916 Edgar H. Keys 1967 W. Neal Newton    
1917 J. Floyd Alcorn 1968 Erastus W. Foster    
1918 E. L. Meyer 1969 John E. Gilster    
1919 E. M. Carson 1970 Simon Baumgarten    
1921 B. W. Follenius 1971 Richard D. Korns    
1922 Otto W. Brandhorst 1972 Everett Roeder    
1923 Otto W. Brandhorst 1973 William Stocker    
1924 W. B. Spotts 1974 William Cloud    
1925 W. B. Spotts 1975 Emmett Jurgens    
1926 W. B. Spotts 1976 Robert G. Hirschi    
1927 F. J. Brockman 1977 Russell Duckworth    
1928 Russell Wheeler 1978 Robert Bedell    
1929 H. S. Rehm 1979 John Neal    
1930 A. P. O’Hare 1980 Dan O’Brien    
1931 James R. O’Neal 1981 Leo S. Shanley    
1932 W. W. Wieman 1982 Tom Prosser    
1933 Russell Whiteaker 1983 Godfrey Schroeder    
1934 Russell Whiteaker 1984 Donald Sheldon    
1935 E. H. Matkin   Graydon Ballard    
1936 Max Kornfeld 1985 Clifford Neill    
1937 Walter Heseman 1986 Dee Pulsipher    
1938 O. F. Steber 1987 Michael Brann    
1939 John W. D. Enloe 1988 Sanford Wax    
1940 Lloyd H. Wright 1989 William S. Brandhorst    
1941 Howard Layman 1990 H. E. Magruder, III    
1942 Elmer Jacobsmeyer 1991 Warren B. French    
1943 George Herbert 1992 Joseph H. Laffler    
1944 E. C. Brooks 1993 Michael Matlof    
1945 W. E. Koch, Jr. 1994 Kurt H. Studt    
1946 Roy Osterkamp 1995 John G. Durham    
1947 W. E. Kling 1996 Don R. Oliver    
1948 Leo M. Shanley 1997 Pat R. Wilson    
1949 Ruth E. Martin 1998 John S. Goin    
1950 George C. Mark 1999 Robert Boyle    
1951 Philip G. Vierheller, Jr. 2000 Doxey Sheldon    
1952 H. Gordon Fisher 2001 Andrew Kim    
1953 Theo. A. Behrens 2002 Gordon Thompson    
1954 Earl E. Shepard 2003 Mike Noble    
1955 Walter Eckardt 2004 Jim Huisinga    
1956 E. V. Holestine 2005 Arnie Jacobson    
1957 J. Paul Guidry 2006 Gregory Hoeltzel    
1958 Carl W. Lattner 2007 Mario V. Conte    
1959 Lester H. Jasper        
1960 James M. Rose      



 
 
  
 
 
School of Dental Medicine Alumni Association Distinguished Alumni Awards 
1964 George W. Burnett 1985 Robert Bedell    
1965 Leo M. Shanley 1986 William S. Brandhorst    
1966 Max Kornfeld 1987 Fred F. Schudy    
  Horace Wheeler 1988 John T. Bird, Jr.    
1968 Earl E. Shepard 1989 Max Kornfeld    
1969 Ruth E. Martin 1990 Patricia A. Parsons    
  Leo B. Lundergan 1991 Roger L. Parrott    
1970 Philip G. Vierheller, Jr 1992 Harold R. Schreiber    
  Everett C. Brooks 1993 Sam E. Guyer    
1971 Norman H. Rickles 1994 Hugh G. Berry    
  Richard Y. Harada 1995 Eloy R. Gutierrez    
1973 Kenneth C. Marshall   Fumio Tsuji    
  Ralph Rosen 1996 Richard V. Tucker    
  L. Woodrow O’Brien 1997 Robert J. Gorlin    
1974 Donald A. Busbey 1998 Arthur S. Miller    
1975 Charles S. Kurz 1999 Dale Carter    
1976 Fred W. Schroeder   Joe Young    
  Isadore Voda 2000 Rex Witherspoon    
1977 John E. Gilster 2001 Larson Keso    
1978 Miley T. Miers 2002 Bert Dannheiser    
1979 Clark Danner 2003 Les Cutler    
1980 Thomas M. Graber 2004 David Krutchkoff    
  William Curtis 2005 Clifford Neill    
1981 G. Sidney Kieffer 2006 Charles Burstone    
1982 John G. Durham 2007 George W. Bernard    
1983 W. Neal Newton        
1984 Robert Koch      
 
 
  
 
 
Washington University Dental Alumni Association Faculty Service Awards 
1963 Leroy R. Boling    
1965 Webb Gurley    
1966 William E. Koch, Jr.    
1970 John R. Ring    
1988 Harriett L. Steuernagel    
1991 Richard W. Brand  
 
 
  



 
 
Washington University Dental Alumni Association President’s Award 
2005 George D. Selfridge    
2006 Mohamed A. Marzouk    
2007 Richard W. Brand  
 
 
  
 
 
Washington University Founders’ Day Distinguished Alumni Awards 
1955 Benno E. Lischer    
1955 Louis H. Renfrow    
1955 Edgar H. Keys    
1955 Otto W. Brandhorst    
1956 J. Floyd Alcorn    
1958 Leo M. Shanley    
1959 William R. Alstadt    
1960 John Harry Dawe    
1961 Max Kornfeld    
1962 Edward G. Hampp    
1965 George W. Burnett    
1967 Cornelia M. Thompson    
1968 Doyle J. Smith    
1969 Russell C. Wheeler    
1971 Roger Hombs    
1974 Robert J. Gorlin    
1975 John G. Durham    
1984 Earl E. Shepard    
1987 John E. Gilster    
1989 William S. Brandhorst  
 
 
  
 
 
Washington University Founders’ Day Distinguished Faculty Awards 
1957 Benno E. Lischer    
1959 Frank H. Foerster    
1960 Clarence O. Simpson    
1963 Leroy R. Boling    
1964 Earl E. Shepard    
1974 Phillip G. Vierheller, Jr.    
1975 John T. Bird, Jr.     
1978 William E. Koch     
1979 Richard Brand    
1980 Mohamed A. Marzouk 



 

Timeline 
 
1839 • The American Journal of Dental Science, the first dental journal, begins publication.    
1840 • Horace Hayden and Chapin Harris establish the world’s first dental school, the Baltimore College 
of Dental Surgery.    
1840 • The world’s first dental organization, the American Society of Dental Surgeons, is founded. The 
organization dissolves in 1856.    
December 16, 1856 • The St. Louis Dental Society is founded, marking the beginning of organized 
dentistry in the state of Missouri. The founders include Henry Barron, Sylvanus Dunham, Isaiah Forbes, 
H. J. McKellops, and Henry E. Peebles. Dunham is elected the first president.    
1859 • Twenty‐six dentists meet in Niagara Falls to form a professional society, the American Dental 
Association.    
October 31, 1865 • The Missouri State Dental Society is established – founding members include Homer 
Judd, H. E. Peebles, William N. Morrison, W. H. Eames, Isaiah Forbes, H. J. McKellops, and Isaac 
Comstock. A committee is immediately appointed to investigate opening a dental school in the state. 
McKellops is selected as the first president of the organization.   
1866 • Lucy Beaman Hobbs Taylor graduates from the Ohio College of Dental Surgery. She is the first 
woman to earn a dental degree in the United States.    
September 15, 1866 • The Missouri Dental College is chartered by the State of Missouri. It is the first 
dental school west of the Mississippi River and only the sixth dental school in the U.S.    
September 24, 1866 • The faculty of the Missouri Dental College meets for the first time. Dr. Homer 
Judd is elected dean.   
October 1, 1866 • The first course of lectures of the Missouri Dental College begins. The school shares 
the lecture rooms, museum and hospitals of the St. Louis Medical College, becoming the first dental 
school in the world associated with a medical college.    
February 22, 1867 • After completion of a five‐month course of study, the Missouri Dental College holds 
its first annual commencement – eleven men are graduated.    
April 22, 1867 • The St. Louis Dental College is chartered. It is associated with the Homeopathic Medical 
College of Missouri for its first year. In 1868 the St. Louis Dental College affiliates with the Missouri 
Medical College. Classes are graduated until about 1875 when the school closes.    
1867 • The Harvard University Dental School is founded, becoming the first university‐affiliated dental 
school.    
January 1869 • The first issue of the Missouri Dental Journal is published. Homer Judd is the first editor‐
in‐chief. Publication is moved to Kansas City in April 1883; however, the Journal ceases publication later 
that year.    
1874 • Charles W. Rivers, D.D.S. becomes dean of the Missouri Dental College.   
1875 • William Henry Eames, D.D.S. becomes dean of the Missouri Dental College.   
1875 • The Missouri Dental College moves to Seventh and Clark Avenues.   
1875 • The Western College of Dental Surgeons is started in St. Louis by Henry Chase, Christopher 
Spalding and Henry Fisher. Its last class graduates in 1884.    
1877 • The Western Dental Journal, based in Kansas City, Missouri, begins publication. It is published 
until 1917.    
September 16, 1878 • Dr. Henry Hodgen Mudd is elected dean of the Missouri Dental College.   
1881 • The Dental Department of the Kansas City Medical College is organized. The name is changed in 
1889 to the Kansas City Dental College.    



1884 • The Archives of Dentistry begins publication in St. Louis, superseding the Missouri Dental Journal. 
Publication is ceased in 1891.    
1890 • The Western Dental College is founded in Kansas City, Missouri.    
February 1892 • The faculty of the Missouri Dental College approves a motion to affiliate with 
Washington University, becoming the Dental Department of Washington University.    
September 27, 1892 • The new term of the Missouri Dental College, Dental Department of Washington 
University, opens in a new building at 1814 Locust Street.   
1894 • The Dental Department of the Marion‐Sims College of Medicine is opened. Young Hance Bond is 
the president and Luther Young the first dean.    
1897 • Missouri governor Lon Stephens appoints the state’s first Board of Dental Examiners: Howard S. 
Lowry of Kansas City; William W. Birkhead of Louisiana; Luther E. Jenkins of Fredericktown; Samuel C. A. 
Rubey of Clinton; and Walter M. Bartlett of St. Louis. Bartlett is elected president of the Board.    
November 1899 • The national dental fraternity Xi Psi Phi organizes Tau Chapter at Washington 
University.    
November 20, 1899 • Dr. Henry H. Mudd dies. He is succeeded as dean of the Missouri Dental College 
(Dental Department of Washington University) by Dr. Albert Homer Fuller.   
1900 • Edward H. Angle, a former instructor of Orthodontics at the Dental Department of Washington 
University, founds the first post‐graduate school of orthodontics in the world, the Edward H. Angle 
School of Orthodontia.    
1900 • The Marion‐Sims College of Medicine and the Beaumont Hospital Medical School consolidate. 
The Dental Department of the former is reconstituted as a proprietary school and continues as the 
Marion‐Sims Dental College. The name is changed in 1905 to the St. Louis Dental College.    
May 1901 • Dr. Albert H. Fuller resigns from the faculty and is made emeritus professor of operative 
dentistry; Dr. John H. Kennerly is elected dean of the faculty.   
1902 • The Dental Department of Washington University moves to a building at Twenty‐seventh and 
Locust Streets.   
1902 • The Dental Era begins publication. Publication ends with volume nine in 1910.    
1903 • The Barnes Dental College is formed as the Dental Department of Barnes Medical College. The 
school is discontinued in 1916.    
1905 • The Dental Department of Washington University moves to Locust and Beaumont Streets (the 
former Mary Institute Building).   
1905 • Chi Chapter of the national dental fraternity Xi Psi Phi is installed at the Western Dental College 
in Kansas City.    
June 1907 • The faculty of the Dental Department of Washington University agrees to admit women 
students on an experimental basis. The first woman enters in the fall 1908 session.    
1908 • The St. Louis University School of Dentistry is formally established with the University's purchase 
of the Marion‐Sims Dental College.    
1909 • The name of the Dental Department is changed to the Dental School of Washington University.    
1909 • The Dental School of Washington University moves to a building at Twenty‐ninth and Locust 
Streets.   
1910 • After successfully completing the three‐year course of study, Sophia M. Wachsmuth becomes the 
first woman to graduate from the Dental School of Washington University.   
1914 • The Omicron Kappa Upsilon Fraternity is organized by the faculty of Northwestern University to 
promote idealism and constructive effort in the dental profession. Founders include Thomas L. Gilmer, 
an 1882 graduate of the Missouri Dental College.    
 
September 1916 • The Washington University School of Dentistry is granted a charter for the Gamma 
Chapter of Omicron Kappa. Other Missouri chapters follow: the Rho Chapter is chartered at the Kansas 



City‐Western Dental College in 1928 and the Eta Eta Chapter is chartered at St. Louis University School 
of Dentistry in 1934.    
1919 • The Dental School of Washington University is renamed the Washington University School of 
Dentistry.    
1919 • The Kansas City Dental College and the Western Dental College consolidate to form the Kansas 
City‐Western Dental College.     
January 1921 • The Bulletin of the Missouri State Dental Association begins quarterly publication. The 
journal switches to monthly publication after three years.    
June 1922 • The Alumni Association of the Washington University School of Dentistry begins publication 
of the Washington University Dental Journal. The journal, “Devoted to the Interest of our Alma Mater, 
our Association and the Dental Profession,” suspends publication after the June 1924 issue.   
1922 • Walter Manny Bartlett, D.D.S. becomes dean of the Washington University School of Dentistry.   
June 1928 • Construction is completed on a new and modern four‐story building for the Washington 
University School of Dentistry. Located at 4559 Scott Avenue, it is adjacent to the Washington University 
School of Medicine buildings, clinics, and affiliated hospitals.   
February 1929 • The new Washington University School of Dentistry building is dedicated.    
1932 • Jesse Duncan White, D.D.S. becomes acting‐dean of the Washington University School of 
Dentistry. He is assisted by a committee composed of Drs. Ewing P. Brady, Virgil Loeb, and Russell G. 
Fobes in the administration of the school during the 1932‐33 year.   
1933 • Benno E. Lischer, D.M.D. becomes dean of the Washington University School of Dentistry.   
June 1934 • The Bulletin of the Missouri State Dental Association changes its name to the Journal of the 
Missouri State Dental Association. In 1961 the word “State” is dropped from the title.    
August 1934 • The Alumni Association of Washington University School of Dentistry resumes publication 
of the Washington University Dental Journal. It is published quarterly until 1967.    
1941 • The Kansas City‐Western Dental College joins the University of Kansas City. In 1963 the school is 
incorporated into the University of Missouri system, becoming the University of Missouri – Kansas City 
School of Dentistry.    
1945 • Otto W. Brandhorst, D.D.S. becomes dean of the Washington University School of Dentistry    
1947 • Under Dean Brandhorst, the Washington University School of Dentistry recommits to post‐
graduate dental education with an extensive offering of classes and programs.    
1953 • Leroy R. Boling, Ph.D. is appointed dean of the Washington University School of Dentistry    
December 1958 • The Baby Tooth Survey is initiated as one of the activities of the Greater St. Louis 
Citizen's Committee for Nuclear Information (CNI).   
1960 • The National Institute of Dental Research of the United States Public Health Service awards Drs. 
Harold L. Rosenthal, John E. Gilster, and John T. Bird of the Washington University School of Dentistry a 
five‐year research grant in the amount of $197,454 for the analysis of the amount of strontium‐90 in 
children's teeth.    
July 1962 • A new research center is completed, adding 28,000 square feet of space for offices, research 
laboratories, and a new library to the Washington University School of Dentistry. The research wing is 
officially named the Carlyn H. Wohl Research Center, in honor of Mrs. David P. Wohl, in October 1963.   
1965 • The Lasky Cleft Palate and Oral Cancer Rehabilitation Center at the Washington University School 
of Dental Medicine is established by a $25,000 contribution from Mr. and Mrs. Abraham Greenspon. The 
Center, named in memory of Mrs. Greenspon’s parents Jacob and Mary Lasky, is housed in the Carlyn H. 
Wohl Research Center and is under the direction of L. Woodrow O’Brien.   
1967 • John T. Bird, D.D.S. succeeds Leroy T. Boling as dean of the Washington University School of 
Dentistry    
1967 • The Washington University Board of Trustees suggests closing the School of Dentistry. A Special 
Faculty Committee (including David Bensinger, Earl Shepard, Tom Moore, John Robert Ring, and Harold 



Rosenthal) create an education, financial and remodeling proposal to keep the school open. The School 
commits to eliminating any operating deficit by the 1970‐71 year, seeking additional federal grants and 
forcefully appealing to the alumni for contributions.    
June 1970 • The St. Louis University School of Dentistry graduates its last class of dentists. The University 
allows the post‐graduate orthodontics program to continue, as long as it remains financially self‐
supporting.    
1972 • The Southern Illinois University School of Dental Medicine opens.    
March 10, 1973 • The School of Dentistry is rededicated to mark the completion of the school’s five‐year 
renovation and rejuvenation plan (1967‐72). The renovation (new heating, plumbing, lighting, air‐
conditioning, and teaching, research, and patient‐care equipment) took place without interrupting the 
basic running of the school and was funded in large part by a grant from the National Institutes of 
Health.    
July 1, 1974  • The Washington University School of Dentistry officially changes its name to the 
Washington University School of Dental Medicine. The primary dental degree conferred is changed from 
the Doctor of Dental Surgery (D.D.S.) to the Doctor of Dental Medicine (D.M.D.).    
1975 • Two classes graduate from the Washington University School of Dental Medicine, one in March 
and one in December, due to the transition from a four‐year to a three‐year curriculum. The three‐year 
curriculum had begun as an experiment in 1973.    
1975 • A four‐story, six thousand square foot addition is completed at the west end of the School of 
Dental Medicine’s main building, providing additional laboratory, clinic and faculty office space.    
1976 • Rear Admiral George D. Selfridge is appointed dean of the Washington University School of 
Dental Medicine.   
1977 • The Washington University School of Dental Medicine returns to the more traditional and 
common four‐year curriculum.    
1985 • The Journal of the Missouri Dental Association changes its title to the Missouri Dental Journal.    
1986 • A five‐story addition to the School of Dental Medicine is completed, extending a previously 
recessed section of the building to the main building line along Scott Avenue and building in an inner 
courtyard of the existing building.   
1987 • David A. Bensinger becomes dean of the Washington University School of Dental Medicine.   
June 1989  • The Washington University Board of Trustees moves to close the School of Dental 
Medicine. The decision is based upon budget deficits, increasing tuition rates, competition from less‐
expensive state‐funded dental schools, limited outside funding, and a declining student pool.    
1989 • Upon the retirement of David A. Bensinger, Richard J. Smith, D.M.D., Ph.D., becomes the last 
dean of the Washington University School of Dental Medicine.   
June 1991  • The 125th and final class of students graduates from the Washington University School of 
Dental Medicine.    
1994 • St. Louis University’s post‐graduate orthodontics program – one of the oldest, largest, and best in 
the world – is renamed the Center for Advanced Dental Education (CADE). In a collaborative 
arrangement with the Southern Illinois University School of Dentistry, CADE expands its programs to 
include endodontics and periodontics.    
1998 • The Missouri Dental Journal, published by the Missouri Dental Association, changes its name to 
Focus MDA. 
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